1980

Penelko, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. Price Rentals,
Inc., A Utah Corporation And John Price
Associates, Inc., A Utah Corporation. John Price, C.
F. Malstrom, First Doe To Tenth Doe, Inclusive :
Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves an action commenced by plaintiff, Penelko, Inc., for claimed violation of certain provisions in its lease of real property and for tortious interference with its theater business.

DISPOSITION BY THE LOWER COURT

Following a trial by jury, a verdict was rendered against appellant and in favor of plaintiff in the amount of \$65,000. The lower court entered its judgment on the verdict in the sum of \$65,000 and denied appellant's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, for a remittitur, or a new trial.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Price Rentals, Inc., seeks reversal of the lower court's judgment.

FACTS

A. Leases And Agreements Pertaining To 9400 South Shopping Center.

On March 25, 1972, defendants Malstrom leased a parcel of real property located on 9400 South and 700 East, Sandy, Utah, to plaintiff for the construction and operation of a theater business (Pages 3, 1713 and 1714). Subsequently, on January 17, 1975, defendants Malstrom notified plaintiff that they had agreed to lease a large portion of their property to defendant-appellant, Price Rentals, Inc., for the

purpose of constructing a shopping center (Pages 1779, 1780, 1989 and 1990). The lease agreement was to include the property upon which the plaintiff's theater and an adjacent laundromat (owned by two of plaintiff's directors and officers) were located, and provided that appellant was to take the property subject to the lease rights of plaintiff and the laundromat owners (Page 1197). Accordingly, on March 27, 1975, defendants Malstrom executed a formal Offer to Lease in which Price Rentals was given an option to lease two contiguous parcels of real property at the above location (Pages 1838 and 1839).

On September 28, 1975, appellant exercised its option on the first parcel and entered into a Lease Agreement with defendants Malstrom for that parcel (Pages 1838 and 1839). Appellant then entered into a Lease Agreement with Grand Central, and a Grand Central store was constructed on the leased parcel immediately to the northeast of plaintiff's theater (Page 1197). In addition, approximately 1,200 parking stalls were constructed immediately south of Grand Central and immediately to the east of plaintiff's leasehold. (Note: This lease, as well as the other exhibits introduced at trial, were not transmitted with the record).

With the permission and consent of defendants Malstrom, appellant entered into a Lease Agreement with Perkins' Cake

& Steak Restaurant on December 20, 1976 (Page 1791). On March 28, 1977, appellant then formally exercised its option on the second large parcel of property, of which plaintiff's leasehold was a part (Page 1197). On April 4, 1977, appellant entered into a Construction Agreement with Jack L. Kerbs, Inc., for the construction by Kerbs of the Perkins' restaurant on a parcel of property between the Grand Central common parking lot on the east and the common parking area located to the south of plaintiff's theater (Pages 1792 and 1795).

B. Plaintiff's Lease.

The Lease between defendants Malstrom and plaintiff, dated March 25, 1972, expressly provided for the lease to plaintiff of a parcel of real property measuring 70' x 120' "together with parking space and access to be set aside and allotted as hereinafter more particularly described." (Page 8). Paragraph 2 of said Lease provided for the construction by plaintiff of a building on the leased premises for use as a motion picture theater. Paragraph 3 then provided:

There is hereby allotted to the Lessee for parking, a strip of land 70 feet in width and 234 feet in depth. running from the South side of the above described parcel to the North side of 9400 South Street, and an additional tract 40 feet in width and 162 feet in depth. from the parcel next adjoining the West side of this tract. . . . The Lessee shall install and maintain at a grade established by the Lessor and in accordance with the standard of the Albertson's parking lot, all paving, lighting, curbs and gutterings, sidewalks

and other walkways necessary for the possession and use of the said premises or required by any governmental authority for the use of and access to the same. (Emphasis added).

This paragraph was inserted in the Lease because no curbs, gutters, sidewalks or traffic control improvements had then been constructed along 9400 South and the common parking area, and it was contemplated that the city would soon require such items as the shopping center was developed (Pages 1762-1766, 2177-2179).

Under Paragraph 6, plaintiff agreed to the removal and replacement of all signs previously erected by it with a sign in conformity with the rules and regulations of a merchant's association which was to be developed in the shopping center, but which had not been formed at the time of the trial of this case. Again, it was understood that such changes would be made in light of the contemplated shopping center development (Pages 1762-1769, 2177-2179). Plaintiff then agreed in Paragraph 7 as follows:

All parking facilities, lighting facilities and open spaces upon the leased premises are to be used in common with other occupants of property of the Lessor for the maintenance and development of a shopping center and no barriers shall be constructed or permitted which will bar access to such parking facilities and access roads by tenants of other premises or their customers or guests. The Lessor shall provide in leases of adjoining property similar covenants and agreements so that the Lessee shall have similar unobstructed access to parking, lighting and other common facilities of adjoining tenants. (Emphasis added).

paragraph 8 of the Lease further provided:

It is the intention of the parties that this shall be a lease of land only for the purpose of construction of buildings or improvements in connection with an integrated shopping center; that both of the parties hereto will encourage the development of adjoining properties for such purpose. . . . (Emphasis added).

On July 1, 1977, plaintiff and defendants Malstrom entered into an Addendum to Lease and Agreement relating to the interpretation of certain provisions of the March 25, 1972 Lease and to certain claimed defaults under the terms of said Lease (Page 18). A lawsuit had previously been filed by the Malstroms against plaintiff, in which the Malstroms alleged that plaintiff had defaulted in the performance of certain terms and conditions of its Lease. That suit was resolved and an Addendum to the original Lease of March 25, 1972, was agreed upon as a part of the settlement (Page 1993). Accordingly, Paragraph 4 of that Addendum provided:

The Lessor does hereby acknowledge and confirm that as of the date hereof [July 1, 1977] Lessee is in full and current compliance in all respects as Tenant with all terms, provisions and covenants of said Lease and Agreement dated March 25, 1972, as amended hereby, and Lessee does hereby acknowledge and confirm that as of the date hereof Lessor is in full and current compliance in all respects as Landlord with all terms, provisions and covenants of said Lease and Agreement dated March 27, 1972, which Lease and Agreement is as to both Lessee and Lessor in good standing and subject to no defaults.

The Addendum did not change any of the original Lease provisions quoted above.

As of the date of the Addendum between plaintiff and defendants Malstrom (July 1, 1977), the contractor for the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant had poured the footings and foundations in connection with the construction of the restaurant and had completed the framing of the restaurant building. The precise location of the building in relation to plaintiff's theater and the common parking area to the south of the theater was therefore plainly apparent (Pages 2295 and 2298). Prior to the execution of the Addendum, however, plaintiff had not complained about nor objected to the construction of the restaurant, but rather acknowledged that the Landlord of the shopping center was in full compliance with all terms of plaintiff's Lease at that time (Pages 3 and 894).

C. Construction Of Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant And Relocation Of Chantel Theater Sign.

During the negotiation of a permit with Sandy City for the construction of the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant, representatives of Price Rentals, in consultation with Sandy City officials, submitted several drafts of site plans to the Sandy City Planning Department as part of the conditional use permit (C.U.P.) process (Pages 2138-2141, 2148, 2149, 1808, 1809, 1855). Sandy City finally approved a site plan,

but initiated certain changes in the plans submitted (Page 1856). Sandy City then issued a building permit conditioned upon compliance by Price Rentals of certain requirements imposed by the City (Pages 1809-1812, 1852-1861, 2141-2144, 2148-2151). These requirements included: (a) construction of a driveway immediately to the west of Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant, extending into common parking areas of the center, approximately half of which was located on the common parking area immediately south of plaintiff's theater, and the other half of which was located on the property leased by Perkins' Cake & Steak; (b) construction of a landscaped area adjoining 9400 South and located immediately to the west of the driveway entrance as a traffic control device; (c) removal of plaintiff's theater sign, as required by the City since the sign was located in the middle of the driveway and therefore constituted a "traffic hazard"; and (d) construction of certain curb, guttering and sidewalks in accordance with the master plan for Sandy City, and as was contemplated in the lease.

Because the issuance of an occupancy certificate for the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant by Sandy City was expressly conditioned upon removal of plaintiff's theater sign, representatives of Price Rentals attempted in June, 1977, to obtain plaintiff's approval for the relocation of plaintiff's theater sign or the construction of a replacement sign (Pages 2298-2301, 2314). Appellant agreed to bear the cost of the con-

struction of such a sign, even though plaintiff had agreed pursuant to Paragraph 7 of its Lease with the Malstroms "not to construct or permit any barriers . . . which will bar access to such (common) parking facilities and access roads by tenants of other premises or their customers or guests" (Pages 2284-2291, 2299-2300). As previously noted, Paragraph 8 of the Lease also committed both parties to "encourage the development of adjoining properties" for the purpose of constructing "buildings and improvements" in connection with an "integrated shopping center". During the course of said conversations, Marv Dobkins of Price Rentals brought to the plaintiff's attention that the sign constituted a traffic hazard and had to be relocated in order to open the restaurant (Pages 2298-2305). Following various unsuccessful attempts to obtain plaintiff's cooperation in the relocation of the sign, Price Rentals informed plaintiff in October and November, 1977, that the restaurant would open on November 7, 1977, and that it would be necessary to remove and relocate the Chantel Theater sign in accordance with Sandy City's requirements (Pages 2284-2291, 2299-2300). Price Rentals also advised plaintiff that it would relocate the sign at its own cost (Pages 2284-2291, 2299-2300).

The parties agreed that the sign would be relocated at a location to be determined, although certain evidence per-

taining to that agreement was not admitted by the Court (Page 2292). This matter is assigned as error and will be discussed hereafter. Accordingly, the sign was removed on November 4, 1977, in accordance with the requirements of Sandy City (Page 2136). Price Rentals immediately arranged for a portable sign containing the name of the theater, which was expected to be used for a brief period while the sign was relocated in accordance with instructions to be provided by plaintiff (Page 1985). As of the time of trial, Price Rentals had paid the entire cost of rental and lighting of the portable sign, which was displayed at the west end of the landscaped island immediately adjacent to 9400 South (Page 1985). Since the time of the initial offer of sign replacement, Price Rentals made several specific proposals to replace plaintiff's sign with an attractive sign in a location acceptable to plaintiff and Sandy City, although again, the Court refused to admit any evidence of such proposals since they were made after the commencement of the present action (Pages 2329-2331). On each such occasion, plaintiff either failed to respond to appellant's proposal or refused to accept the proposal without stating the reasons for such refusal or indicating what its sign specifications were. Again, however, the court refused to permit the introduction of evidence in support of those facts. In addition, from the date of removal of plaintiff's

theater sign on November 4, 1977, plaintiff deliberately refused to construct a replacement sign or to relocate its original sign, despite the fact that Sandy City would clearly have permitted such a relocation (Pages 2318-2320).

D. Nature Of Plaintiff's Claims.

Pursuant to Paragraph 8 of the Complaint (Page 3), plaintiff sought damages against each of the defendants, alleging as follows:

1. Since the execution of the Addendum to the Lease on July 1, 1977, defendants entered into a "deliberate and malicious course of conduct" in violation of the two Leases, "designed to destroy the business of the plaintiff" with the intent to "force plaintiff to forfeit and abandon said Leases."

2. Defendants entered into a Lease with Perkins' Cake & Steak, which did not contain "similar covenants and agreements" to those of Paragraph 7 of its lease, "so that Lessee, (plaintiff) shall have similar unobstructed access to parking, lighting and other common facilities to the joint tenants."

3. Defendants tore down the sign and marquee for plaintiff's theater.

4. Defendants removed two lights that the plaintiff had installed on the parking space to the south of its

space to the south of its theater. (These lights were located in the common parking area).

5. Defendant Perkins' Cake & Steak erected a proposed restaurant, blocking the view of the plaintiff's marquee.

6. Defendant Perkins' Cake & Steak "trespassed on plaintiff's leased parking space by landscaping and by asphaltting over the same."

7. Defendants constructed a flagpole on plaintiff's alleged leased parking space.

8. Defendants have trespassed upon plaintiff's leased parking area.

It is significant that at no time has Penelko claimed any damage prior to July 1, 1977. In fact, it specifically stated in its Complaint and Response to Defendants' Motion in Limine that it claimed no damage prior to that time (Pages 3 and 894).

Upon the conclusion of the evidence, the Court submitted all of the above claims to the jury in a single instruction, without distinguishing between plaintiff's tort claims and its claims for breach of lease. The jury was therefore permitted to return a general verdict without specifying the nature of any wrongful conduct of any of the defendants. Further, the court's Instruction No. 21 permitted the jury to find any damages that would fairly and adequately compensate

plaintiff for any injury sustained by defendants' wrongful conduct and then it stated:

Such damages may include damages from loss of profits, if any, and punitive damages, if any, as you may find pursuant to the next instructions that follow. (Emphasis added) (Page 1205).

The instruction, however, did not advise the jury that it could not award any damages for the time period prior to July 1, 1977, which was the date alleged in plaintiff's Complaint as the beginning date for defendants' alleged by wrongful conduct. Instruction No. 21 also stated that compensation for wrongful damage to the plaintiff's property could be awarded. Finally, Paragraph 7 of Instruction No. 17, as submitted to the jury, stated that the plaintiff was claiming wrongful violation of its rights because of a willful and malicious course of conduct by defendants designed to destroy plaintiff's business and force abandonment of its theater and lease. This claim was clearly founded in tort, but the jury was not instructed that in order to recover on this claim, plaintiff must show that defendants' conduct proximately caused injury to plaintiff.

At the conclusion of plaintiff's evidence, defendants moved the court for a directed verdict with respect to the issues of liability and damages in the case (Pages 2229-2232). Specifically, defendants contended first, that plaintiff, in the event defendants were found to be liable,

was entitled to the recovery of lost "net profits" only, and second, that plaintiff had scrupulously avoided putting on any evidence to prove its "net income." The court denied said motion with respect to appellant and John Price personally (Page 2245). Defendants renewed their motion for a directed verdict upon completion of their case, and again, that motion was denied with respect to all of plaintiff's claims (Pages 2455-2457, and 2469). The court then submitted all of plaintiff's claims to the jury, and a general verdict in the amount of \$65,000.00 was returned against appellant.

Appellant contends on appeal that this Court should:

(1) reverse the trial court's judgment on the verdict with instructions that the trial court enter a judgment notwithstanding the verdict because of plaintiff's failure to produce any evidence of lost "net profits"; (2) reverse the trial court's judgment on the basis that the above instructions were improper and that the trial court erred in refusing to permit the introduction of critical evidence relating to (a) plaintiff's obligation to mitigate its damages, (b) to the existence of an agreement between the parties for the relocation of the sign, and (c) to the existence of a laundromat lease for property contiguous to plaintiff's theater, which also provided for common parking facilities;

and (3) reverse the court's judgment because of the highly prejudicial conduct of the court during the trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT AGAINST APPELLANT SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTIONS FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

In cases where a party seeks recovery for interference with its business operations or for breach of contract, loss of net profits is the proper measure of recovery. Leppla v. Schroeder, 532 P.2d 370, 372 (Colo. 1974); Williams v. Bone, 74 Idaho 185, 259 P.2d 810, 811-12 (1953); American Fire Protection Service v. Williams, 340 P.2d 644, 647 (Cal. 1959); Guntert v. City of Stockton, 126 Cal.Rptr. 690, 55 Cal.App.3d 131 (1976). The term "net profits" is defined as "the gains made from sales after deducting the value of the labor, materials, rents and all expenses. . . ." Guntert v. City of Stockton, supra, at 700.

A judgment in favor of plaintiff based on gross income or calculated without proper proof of all expenses to arrive at lost net profits must be reversed. Williams v. Bone, supra; Benfield v. H. K. Porter Co., 137 N.W.2d 273 (Mich. 1965). In Benfield, for example, plaintiff introduced evidence of lost gross receipts only but failed to offer proof of proper allocable expenses to show its loss of "net profits."

On appeal, the Court held that plaintiff had the burden of showing loss of "net profits" and that proof of expenses is part of that burden. The judgment, which failed to take into account deduction of properly allocable expenses from lost gross receipts, was therefore reversed by the court and the lower court was directed to enter a verdict of no cause of action. Id. at 274.

Similarly, in Williams v. Bone, supra, the Idaho Supreme Court reviewed an appeal in which an operator of a taxicab business brought an action against a lessee for removal of the operator's neon sign which advertised his business. To prove loss of business subsequent to removal of the sign, plaintiff submitted bank statements of gross business income for a period of six months prior to the time the sign was removed and for a period of six months after removal. No evidence was offered, however, with respect to "net loss" or "net decrease in income." The Court concluded that expenses and costs of operation, from which the net profits or decrease in net income could be derived, must be shown by plaintiff. The Court then stated:

Where a regular and established business is injured, interrupted or destroyed by the wrongful acts of another, the measure of damages, when and if recoverable, is the net loss and not the diminution in gross income.

.

[T]his Court [has] held that damages could not be predicated on proof of gross receipts of the business, and that such evidence standing alone, is insufficient proof of damages. 259 P.2d at 812.

Because of plaintiff's failure to produce evidence of such lost net profits, the Court therefore held that the jury verdict and the judgment entered thereon should be reversed.

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