1980

Penelko, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. Price Rentals, Inc., A Utah Corporation And John Price Associates, Inc., A Utah Corporation. John Price, C. F. Malstrom, First Doe To Tenth Doe, Inclusive : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. Answering Appellant's Point I That the Judgment Against Appellant Should be Reversed Because of the Trial Court's Error in Denying Appellant's Motions for a Directed Verdict.

Under this heading (pages 14 to 16) appellant attacks the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain the jury's verdict

Actually, the jury's verdict was woefully inadequate. The evidence would have supported a verdict of over \$700,000.

The factual basis for the jury's verdict is set forth above in MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE and, particularly, Sub-section 7 of same "Respondent's Damages". (page 13 supra)

Respecting the sufficiency of the evidence to support the \$65,000 verdict are the following facts.

Respondent's theater was not a new venture when appellant willfully and wrongfully violated respondent's lease in 1977. The theater had been operating since 1973. Consequently, it had prior experience upon which to base a claim for loss of future profits it would have made but for appellant's tortious acts; namely, constructing improvements over respondent's leased parking place, tearing down respondent's theater marquee, disconnecting two of respondent's parking lights, and usurping respondent's parking by constructing the Perkins' Cake and Steak Restaurant without any parking for its customers so that it took over respondent's allotted parking after November 7, 1977 when the restaurant opened for business.

These tortious breaches of respondent's lease were calculated, deliberate, and were done with full knowledge of respondent's lease.

Appellant's acts resulted in the decline of respondent's profits and created the uncertainty of what future profits respondent would have made had it not been for these acts in breach of respondent's lease.

The evidence shows that before appellant's breach of respondent's lease, respondent's net income from the theater

climbed steadily. That after said violations consummating in the opening of the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant on November 7, 1977, the revenue income plunged. John Gidney's testimony and his Exhibits 39-P and 42-P show this as stated in "7. Respondent's Damages" above.

As a convenience to the court, we attach hereto as an appendix a copy of Exhibit 39-P.

By mathematical computation and/or inference, had this upward climb of profits contineud until the 35 years remaining of respondent's lease, the loss of profit would have amounted to \$777,000. (See Exhibit 32-P, which was originally page 5 of Exh. 39-P. The court did not allow this page in evidence but it was merely a mathematical computation.) Further, as stated above, the evidence of appellant's witness, Duane Lidden, CPA, corroborated Gidney's evidence in every respect.

The authorities appear uniform in holding that (where as here) the party's business is not a new venture but has prior experience upon which to base a claim for future damages, damages for loss of future profits should be awarded despite the fact that they cannot in the nature of them be fixed with exact certainty. And further, that the wrong-doer (appellant herein) cannot complain as his wrongful acts created the uncertainty.

Security Development Co. v. Fedco, Inc., 22 Utah 2d, 462 P2d 706 (1960), involved an action for lost profits for violation of a lease, resulting in loss of floor space. The court pointed out that in Fedco plaintiff was engaged in a

new business venture and had no prior experience upon which to base a claim for loss of future profits. But plaintiff had claimed damages during the period it had occupied the premises, and the court ruled that these damages were not to be denied simply because they could not be ascertained with exactness, stating: "Damages are not to be denied because they cannot be ascertained with exactness."

Regarding the prerogative of the jury to draw inferences from the evidence presented, the court quoted from Lavender v. Kurn, 327 U.S. 645, 653, 66 S.Ct. 740, 744, 90 L.Ed. 916 (1945):

It is no answer to say that the jury's verdict involved speculation and conjecture. Whenever facts are in dispute or the evidence is such that fair-minded men may draw different inferences, a measure of speculation and conjecture is required on the part of those whose duty it is to settle the dispute by choosing what seems to them to be the most reasonable inference. Only when there is a complete absence of probative facts to support the conclusion reached does a reversible error appear. But where, as here, there is an evidentiary basis for the jury's verdict, the jury is free to discard or disbelieve whatever facts are inconsistent with its conclusion. And the appellate court's function is exhausted when that evidentiary basis becomes apparent, it being immaterial that the court might draw a contrary inference or feel that another conclusion is more reasonable.

In Freeway Park Bldg., Inc. v. Western States Wh. Sup., 22 Utah 2d 266, 451 P2d 778 (1969), where plaintiff was wrongfully evicted from the premises) again the plaintiff had not been in operation long enough to have a history of profit to figure loss of future profits. Nevertheless, regarding defendant's contention that the loss of profits could not be

fixed with exactness and, therefore, there was uncertainty in the evidence, the court stated:

There is evidence to the effect that the tenants had made a profit during the five months immediately preceding the attachment amounting to approximately \$15,000. The records were not complete, and a certified public accountant doing the best he could with what he had calculated the gross sales for the five-month period to be \$136,000 and the net profit as stated above. . .

In this case concrete data was given in evidence; and while the records were not sufficient to give the exact prior earnings, we think they were sufficient to enable the jury to infer the amount of damages, if any, which were occasioned by reason of the wrongful attachment and eviction, and thus to give a just verdict in the case. See McCormick on Damages, Hornbook Series, Sec. 229.

Bigelow v. RKO Radio Pictures, Inc., 237 U.S. 251,

90 L.Ed. 652 (1946) states the rule as follows:

Nevertheless, we held that the jury could return a verdict for the plaintiffs, even though damages could not be measured with the exactness which would otherwise have been possible. In such a case, even where the defendant by his own wrong has prevented a more precise computation, the jury may not render a verdict based on speculation or guesswork. But the jury may make a just and reasonable estimate of the damage based on relevant data, and render its verdict accordingly. In such circumstances "juries are allowed to act on probable and inferential as well as upon direct and positive proof" . . .

It would be an inducement to make wrongdoing so effective and complete in every case as to preclude any recovery, by rendering the measure of damages uncertain. Failure to apply it would mean that the more grievous the wrong done, the less likelihood there would be of a recovery.

The most elementary conceptions of justice and public policy require that the wrongdoer shall bear the risk of the uncertainty which his own wrong has created.

The constant tendency of the courts is to find some way in which damages can be awarded where a wrong has been done, and difficulty in ascertaining the damages is not to be confused with the right of recovery for a proven invasion of the plaintiff's rights.

See also Story Parchment Co. v. Paterson Parchment Paper Co., 282 U.S. 555, 75 L.Ed. 544 (1931), in which it is stated as follows:

Where the tort itself is of such a nature as to preclude the ascertainment of the amount of damages with certainty, it would be a perversion of fundamental principles of justice to deny all relief to the injured person, and thereby relieve the wrongdoer from making any amend for his acts. In such case, while the damages may not be determined by mere speculation or guess, it will be enough if the evidence show that the extent of the damages is a matter of just and reasonable inference, although the result be only approximate. The wrongdoer is not entitled to complain that they cannot be measured with the exactness and precision that would be possible if the case, which he alone is responsible for making, were otherwise . . . As the supreme court of Michigan has forcefully declared, the risk of the uncertainty should be thrown upon the wrongdoer instead of upon the injured party. Allison v. Chandler, 11 Mich. 542, 550-556.

Eastmen Kodak Co. v. Southern Photo Materials Co., 273 U.S. 359, 71 L.Ed. 684 (1927), (the classic decision), states the rule as follows:

"Damages are not rendered uncertain because they cannot be calculated with absolute exactness. It is sufficient if a reasonable basis for computation is afforded, although the result be only approximate." This, we think, was a correct statement of the applicable rules of law. Furthermore, a defendant whose wrongful conduct has rendered difficult the ascertainment of the precise damages suffered by the plaintiff, is not entitled to complain that they cannot be measured with the same exactness and precision as would otherwise be possible. Hetzel v. Baltimore & O.R. Co., 169 U.S. 26, 39, 42 L.Ed. 648, 562, 18 Sup. Ct. Rep. 255. And see Lincoln v. Orthwein, 57 C.C.A. 540, 120 Fed. 880, 886.

See also Jacksonville Blow Pipe Co. (5th Cir.), 264 F2d 717 (1959); Wyoming Wool Marketing Assoc. v. Woodruff, 372 P2d 174, 3 ALR3d 802 (1962); and Reed v. Williams, (Ark.) 445 S.W. 90 (1969).

II. Answering Appellant's Point II. That the Court Erred in Application of the Law to the Facts of the Present Case.

Respondent believes what it has said above completely answers appellant's Point II. Under this argument on pages 21 through 23, appellant contends that the court failed to properly instruct the jury on proximate cause re damages. Even had this been the case, the error would not have been prejudicial. For the evidence was sufficient to support a finding that appellant's willful and wrongful acts did, without question, cause respondent's lost profits.

As is pointed out above, before appellant's violation of respondent's lease, respondent had no parking problems. But after appellant had landscaped and built a roadway over respondent's parking space and after appellant had torn down the Penelko Theatre sign and disconnected two of its lights, and after the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant was opened on November 7, 1977, there was little or no parking available for Penelko's theater customers. Some days, all of the parking was gone. Appellant's theater witness testified if he hadn't made a survey to find a theater, he wouldn't have found it because it didn't look like a theater, and if he were a customer, he wouldn't go into it. (See page 14 supra)

However, the court did properly instruct the jury re proximate cause and damages. In Instruction No. 21, the court

If you find the issues in favor of plaintiff and against the defendants, or either of them, it will be your duty to award the plaintiff such damage, if any, as you may find from a preponderance of the evidence will fairly and adequately compensate plaintiff for any injury, and the damages therefor, as defined in these instructions, which plaintiff has sustained as a consequence of any wrongful conduct of defendants, or either of them. (1205)

Further, the jury was instructed,

Such damages must be certain both in their nature and as to the cause from which they proceed. They must be directly and necessarily occasioned by the lessor's wrongful act and must have been reasonably within the minds of the parties at the time of the lease. (Instruction 22, 1206)

The error in the court's instructions was against Pen-elko, Inc. For examples:

In instruction No. 15 the court instructed the jury that the plaintiff's rights under the lease to use parking areas, install signs and lights were still subject to the rights of the lessors, first the Malstroms and then Price Rentals, Inc., to develop an integrated shopping center. (1198) But no integrated shopping center was ever authorized under the lease and no merchants' association was ever formed. (see paragraph 6 of respondent's lease)

In instruction No. 20 the court instructed the jury that in determining whether any act done by defendant was wrongful, the jury should consider whether such acts were reasonably intended to further the purpose of developing an integrated shopping center. But as stated above, the very least parking rights plaintiff had under paragraphs 3 and 7 of its lease (whether or not a shopping center had been formed) was to use

the parking in common with the adjoining tenant, Perkins' Cake & Steak. Price Rentals, Inc. by landscaping over the parking place, building a roadway on it, striping it for no parking and erecting a flagpole prevented such use by plaintiff.

Price Rentals contends on pages 21 and 22 of its brief that much of testimony of witness John Brown was permitted to go to the jury permitting it to speculate on the damage to Penelko's leasehold.

Mr. Brown was an independent real estate appraiser with outstanding qualifications. He was familiar with the leased property and theater. He examined it many times, and was an expert in appraising theaters. (2040 - 2042, 2044 - 2049, 2058) Mr. Brown's proposed testimony was to show the value of Penelko's leasehold before Price Rentals' violation of the lease and after the violation of the lease.

The court refused to permit one iota of opinion testimony of Mr. Brown on the value of Penelko's leasehold.

For examples:

The court sustained Price Rentals' objection as to the best use of the property. (2050)

It sustained Price Rentals' objection as to economic rent. (2052, 2053)

The court sustained Price Rentals' objection as to the value of the leasehold interest. (2054)

It sustained Price Rentals' objection as to the present worth of the lease prior to November 4, 1978. (2066)

It sustained Price Rentals' objection as to whether the parking lots were empty the 10 or 12 times Brown visited the premises.

The court sustained Price Rentals' objection of the value of the lease. (2079 - 2082)

The court stated it would not question Brown's qualifications. (2098)

But the court ruled it was not willing to rule that Brown's testimony presents a fair measure of damages and could not see that Brown's testimony consisted of a proper measure of damages. (2099 - 2101)

These errors of the lower court on instructions and refusal to admit expert testimony were prejudicial errors.

But respondent does not seek the reversal for new trial on these errors except should the court rule that the evidence was not sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict of \$65,000. Respondent does not want the expense involved in a new trial.

III. Answering Appellant's Point III. That the Court Erred When it Refused to Permit the Introduction of Evidence That was Relevant and Material to Vital Defenses Raised by Appellant.

Appellant's arguments under Point III. appear to be that respondent refused to let appellant erect theater signs that would have mitigated respondent's damages.

That is not correct. For as is pointed out above, respondent permitted appellant to erect any sign it desired. Appellant did install a roll-about sign that was worse than useless. But appellant declined to install a sign on top of the theater when Director Carley Koplin would not agree that it would replace the marquee torn down.

Appellant's statement at page 23 of its brief of the testimony of Bernard Reynolds, Sandy City Planner, that the city would have permitted relocation of plaintiff's sign is misleading to say the least. Reynolds was not Sandy City Planner at the time respondent's marquee was torn down. He did not know the regulations at that time, and his testimony was not unequivocal.

Mr. Reynolds was not employed by Sandy City when the C.U.P. permit was issued providing that Penelko, Inc. must provide 24 parking spaces. He testified that if the property on which Price Rentals landscaped, built a roadway and erected a flagpole were on separate parcels of property, then there could be separate signs. But that leases were not within the ordinances and had no relevance; that the whole area was owned by the Malstroms. Further, that the restaurant sign had no right to be installed where it was unless on a separate parcel. That Price Rentals had no right to install the restaurant sign unless the theater sign came down. (2161, 2162, 2167, 2321, 2322, 2362, 2327)

Penelko's theater marquee was already erected on the parcel, therefore, Price Rentals, Inc. tore it down.

The planning director handling this matter at the time was Edward P. James. And as is pointed out above, respondent's directors, Carley Koplin and LaVona Peterson approached James on putting up another sign, and James replied, "No way", and that he only dealt with the owner of the property, which in this case was the Malstroms. (page 13 supra)

Appellant's proposal to erect a double sign involved an agreement with the Norge Village Cleaners. The cleaners' property was not owned or controlled by Penelko. It was property adjacent to appellant on its west boundary.

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